IN THE MATTER OF THE SEARCH OF:

11957 Ridgeway Park Drive, Charlotte,
NC; a 2022 Hyundai Tucson vehicle; and
a DJI Unmanned Aircraft System

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF NORTH CAROLINA

Case No.: 320 "é) 5%

AFFIDAVIT IN SUPPORT OF AN APPLICATION FOR A SEARCH WARRANT

I, Joseph D. Fialka, being first duly sworn, hereby depose and state as follows:

1.

INTRODUCTION AND AGENT BACKGROUND
I make this affidavit in support of an application under Rule 41 of the Federal Rules of
Criminal Procedure for a search warrant authorizing the search of a residence, motor
vehicle, and an unmanned aircraft system (UAS), as described in Attachments A-1 and

A-2, to seize the items or information described in Attachments B-1 and B-2.

I am a Senior Federal Air Marshal (FAM) with the Federal Air Marshal Service (FAMS)
and have been since May 2002. Prior to the FAMS, I was a police officer and detective
in Durham, North Carolina. Upon joining the FAMS, I was assigned to the Charlotte
Field Office where I was assigned to in-flight security, airport liaison, Visible Intermodal
Prevention and Response (VIPR) as the Radiological, Nuclear, Biological, and Chemical
(RNBC) coordinator and technician, and Training Department as an Instructor and

Medic.

Currently, I am assigned to the Federal Bureau of Investigation (FBI) Joint Terrorism

Task Force (JTTF) and have been since June 2024. I am an Airport Liaison Agent and

Assistant Counter Unmanned Aircraft Systems (CUAS) Coordinator. As such, I hold

responsibility to investigate violations of federal law involving the aviation domain and

participate in Special Event coverage as a plain-clothed investigator for large events that
1
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could be terrorism targets. Some of these events have Temporary Flight Restrictions
instituted by the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) and frequently attract operators
of unmanned aircraft systems , which are also commonly referred to as “drones.” As
such, some of my investigative responsibilities have included investigation of criminal
and national security violations to determine whether unmanned aircraft system operators
have violated Federal law. I am a “Federal law enforcement officer” as defined by Rule

41(a)(2)(C) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure.

. This affidavit is intended to show only that there is sufficient probable cause for the

requested warrant and does not set forth all my knowledge about this matter.

. In this affidavit, “SUBJECT PREMISES” refers to a condominium residence located
within the Western District of North Carolina at 11957 Ridgeway Park Drive, Charlotte,
North Carolina, and a dark gray-colored 2022 Hyundai Tucson assigned North Carolina
registration plate HKD4875 and bearing VIN number SNMJF3AEINH004604, as further
detailed in Attachment A-1.

. In this affidavit, “SUBJECT DEVICE” refers to an unmanned aircraft system (UAS), as
further detailed in Attachment A-2, but including a DJI Mavic Air 2 bearing serial
number 3N33J91002W075. The UAS is a complete system and includes: the aircraft,
controller for the aircraft, cameras, accessories and electronic storage mediums that can

be attached to, or inserted into, the aircraft or controller.

. I respectfully submit that, based upon the information provided in this affidavit, there is
probable cause to believe that on the SUBJECT PREMISES there is the SUBJECT
DEVICE and that the SUBJECT DEVICE is itself evidence of the commission of
criminal offenses and was used in the commission of criminal offenses, and on the
SUBJECT DEVICE there is currently concealed evidence of the commission of criminal
offenses. The relevant criminal offenses are violations of Title 49, United States Code,
Sections 46306(b)(5) and (b)(6) and Title 18, United States Code, Section 39B(b)(1). 1

therefore respectfully request that the Court issue the attached search warrant authorizing
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10.

the search of the SUBJECT PREMISES and SUBJECT DEVICE, as more fully described
in Attachments A-1, A-2, B-1, and B-2.

BACKGROUND, DEFINITIONS, AND APPLICABLE LAW
The FAA is an agency within the United States Department of Transportation responsible
for maintaining the safety and efficiency of the navigable airspace within the United
States. The FAA created the National Airspace System (NAS) to protect persons and
property on the ground, and to establish a safe and efficient airspace environment for
civil, commercial, and military aviation. In the FAA Modernization and Reform Act of
2012, the FAA was charged with safely integrating unmanned aircraft systems,

commonly referred to as “drones,” into the NAS.

Title 49, United States Code, Sections 40102 or 44801, define the following terms used
in this affidavit:
a. ‘“Aircraft” means any contrivance invented, used, or designed to navigate, or fly
in, the air.
b. “Unmanned aircraft” means an aircraft that is operated without the possibility of
direct human intervention from within or on the aircraft.
c. “Small unmanned aircraft” means an unmanned aircraft weighing less than 55
pounds, including the weight of anything attached to or carried by the aircraft.
d. “Unmanned aircraft system” (UAS) means an unmanned aircraft and associated
elements (including communication links and the components that control the
unmanned aircraft) that are required for the operator to operate safely and

efficiently in the national airspace system.

Title 49, United States Code, Section 46306(b)(5), among other things, prohibits the
owner of an aircraft eligible for registration under Section 44102 from knowingly and
willfully operating, or attempting to operate, the aircraft when the aircraft is not

registered under Section 44103.
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11.

12.

13.

14.

15,

Title 49, United States Code, Section 46306(b)(6), among other things, prohibits the
knowing and willful operation, or attempt to operate, an aircraft eligible for registration
under Section 44102, when the operator knows that the aircraft is not registered under

Section 44103.

Title 14, Code of Federal Regulations (CFR), Part 48 (14 CFR 48) provides requirements
for registration and marking requirements for small unmanned aircraft. Specifically, 14
CFR 48.15 states that “No person may operate a small unmanned aircraft that is eligible
for registration under 49 U.S.C. 44101-44103 unless one of the following criteria has
been satisfied: (a) The owner has registered and marked the aircraft in accordance with
this part; (b) The aircraft is operated exclusively in compliance with 49 U.S.C. 44809 and
weighs 0.55 pounds or less on takeoff, including everything that is on board or otherwise
attached to the aircraft; or (¢) The aircraft is an aircraft of the Armed Forces of the United

States.”

Further, 14 CFR 48.25, provides that, “[t]o register a small unmanned aircraft in the
United States under this part, a person must provide the information required by § 48.110
to the Registry in a form and manner prescribed by the Administrator. Upon submission
of this information, the FAA issues a Certificate of Aircraft Registration to that person.
A small unmanned aircraft must be registered by its owner using the legal name of its
owner, unless the owner is less than 13 years of age. If the owner is less than 13 years of
age, then the small unmanned aircraft must be registered by a person who is at least 13

years of age.”

Title 18, United States Code, Section 39B(b)(1), prohibits the knowing operation of an

unmanned aircraft within a runway exclusion zone.

“Runway Exclusion Zone” (REZ) as the term is used in Title 18, United States Code,
Section 39B(b), is defined by Section 39B(b)(2) as follows: “a rectangular area-- (A)
centered on the centerline of any active runway of an airport immediately around which

the airspace is designated as class B, class C, or class D airspace at the surface under part
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16.

17.

18.

71 of title 14. Code of Federal Regulations; and (B) the length of which extends parallel
to the runway’s centerline to points that are one (1) statute mile from each end of the

runway and the width of which is one-half (1/2) statute mile.”

PROBABLE CAUSE
On March 10, 2026, at approximately 12:37 PM, a detection was received via the
Dedrone Aeroscope G8-TSA CLT_ Airport UAS detector, which is located at the

Charlotte Douglas International Airport (CLT), 5501 Josh Birmingham Parkway,
Charlotte, North Carolina 28208. The information provided by the detection device was
that there was a UAS launch that occurred within the Runway Exclusion Zone and
property boundaries of CLT, specifically positioned at the Airport Overlook, located at
5130 Airport Overlook Drive, Charlotte, North Carolina 28208.

The airspace immediately around CLT is designated as class B airspace at the surface

under part 71 of title 14, Federal Code of Regulations.

The Airport Overlook is on the property of CLT and sits between two active runways
(36/18 Center and 36 Left/18 Right), which were in use -- with aircraft arriving and
departing -- during the times of the detected UAS flight. The Airport Overlook is entirely
within a Runway Exclusion Zone. The Airport Overlook is shown on the following map,

between the runways:
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19. A UAS violated the FAA-established REZ at the Charlotte Douglas International Airport
on March 10, 2026, between 12:37 PM local time and 12:49 PM local time.

20. The UAS sensor data first detected this UAS at around 12:37 p.m. and detected that it

flew between 30 feet above ground level and approximately one hundred 100 feet above
ground level for 7.64 minutes.

21. I understand from my training, experience, consultation with other experienced officers,

and knowledge of this investigation, that a UAS flying at such heights raises significant

public safety concerns and could potentially disrupt air traffic control for manned aircraft
and other aircraft.

22. At around 12:37 p.m., FAMs received UAS sensor data from one set of UAS sensors that
detected the UAS and the approximate altitude during its flight. Based on my training,
experience, consultation with other experienced officers, and knowledge of this

investigation, I understand that law enforcement agents commonly use this type of UAS
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23.

24.

sensor data to detect, track, and monitor UASs flying in restricted airspace. Law
enforcement agents do this so they can locate and approach the UAS operator, address
public safety concerns, and advance investigations of illegal conduct. I understand that
agents investigating UAS violations have used and found this type of UAS sensor data
reliable in their enforcement operations and case investigations. For example, the sensor

data almost always leads agents to within yards of the operator of the UAS that it detects.

In response to the alert cited above, FAMs C.H. and J.F. responded to the CLT Airport
Overlook, located at 5130 Airport Overlook Drive, Charlotte, NC 28208, and observed
Marco Ochoa (OCHOA) standing at the rear of a vehicle -- more fully identified as a dark
gray-colored Hyundai Tucson assigned North Carolina registration plate HKD4875 and
bearing VIN number SNMJF3AE9INH004604 -- with the trunk open, and holding a
camera tripod. C.H. approached OCHOA and observed, in plain view sitting in the open
trunk, a black pelican case with a “DJI” sticker on it. C.H. identified himself as a federal
law enforcement agent. OCHOA admitted that he had just operated “his” drone at the

Airport Overlook.

OCHOA stated he was creating social media content for a client and was using his DJI
Mavic Air 2, serial number 3N33J91002W075 -- the SUBJECT DEVICE -- to create the
video footage. Upon inspection of the UAS, C.H. found that the SUBJECT DEVICE did
not possess any FAA identifiable registration. The serial number on the SUBJECT
DEVICE corresponded with the Dedrone Aeroscope G8-TSA_CLT Airport UAS
detector alert that initially caused FAMS to respond to the area where they found
OCHOA. A FAM took the following photograph while interacting with OCHOA:
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25. On the SUBJECT DEVICE, specifically the controller component, OCHOA showed
video footage to C.H. and J.F. It was video that OCHOA captured using the SUBJECT
DEVICE during flight. The video showed an approximately 7-minutes-long flight with
the SUBJECT DEVICE flying between 32- and 100- feet above ground level.

26. Signage posted at the entrance and inside of the CLT Overlook states that drone use is
prohibited. An example is shown in the photograph on the next page:
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